FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2015 SEP 24 PM 2: 35

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY.

SEP 292015

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT — STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 463¢37-7 II

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Estate of

CHARLES ROBERT THORNTON,

Deceased.

# MARTIN THORNTON'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO SUPREME COURT

STUART C. MORGAN, WSBA #26368 Attorneys for Petitioner Martin Thornton

Ledger Square Law, P.S. 710 Market Street Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 327-1900

·...

# ORIGINAL

# **

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Martin Thornton, the only child of Decedent and Petitioner below.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision for which review is sought is appended to this Petition for Discretionary Review as **Appendix A**.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether or not the Appellate Court's affirmation of the trial court's error in granting summary judgment dismissing Marty Thornton's Will contest should be reversed when Marty was entitled to a presumption of undue influence, the presumption of fraud in the inducement, and significant questions of material fact exist on both issues.

2. The Appellate Court's reluctance to address the issue of the appropriate statute of limitations on a constructive trust claim should be reversed and this Court should accept discretionary review to address the issue. In this case, the Appellate Court did not address the issue raised by Marty on appeal when the trial court: (a) applied the incorrect statute of limitations; and (b) failing to account for any sort of tolling period where Marty had been misled by information produced by the Personal Representative to the Court in the inventory.

3. Whether the Appellate Court erred in affirming a grant of attorney's fees based on an erroneous decision of the trial court. The trial

court granted attorney's fees based on the Chapter 11.11 RCW limitation period. The Appellate Court declined to address that argument on appeal but affirmed the grant of attorney's fees.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual History.

Marty Thornton is the Petitioner in the trial court matter and the only child of Charles Thornton. CP 1-7. On March 11, 1988, Charles executed a Last Will and Testament bequeathing his entire Estate to his son Marty. <u>Id.</u> Charles Thornton's estate plan remained in place for the next 22 years until October 18, 2010 – approximately five weeks before his death -- when a new Will was signed bequeathing everything to Charles Thornton's girlfriend, Ms. Heberlein. <u>Id</u>.

In her own deposition, Ms. Heberlein described the execution of the new Will as a marathon like session with the attorney. At the time, Charles Thornton was also physically suffering from the effects of his metastatic kidney cancer. Perhaps most importantly, though, Marty filed Declarations with the Court describing how Marty was eliminated from contact with his father during the time that the new Will was executed and why the purported reasons for the new Will are factually incorrect. CP 154-169; 170-234.

After Charles began his relationship with Ms. Heberlein, she began to interfere with Charles's relationship with Marty and Marty's family. Ms. Heberlein took various actions to keep the Thornton family and Decedent apart – both physically and emotionally. Only Ms. Heberlein's testimony was used to try and rebut these factual allegations. CP 239-240; 241-242; *see Declarations of Jessica Thornton, Irma Thornton, Mia Thornton and Kimberly Thornton*.

After Charles died and after Ms. Heberlein finally provided Marty with a copy of the new Will, Ms. Heberlein asserted that Charles changed his Will because he detested Marty and that: (1) Charles felt he had already "given enough" to Marty and Marty's family because Marty was "gifted" a house owned by Charles; and (2) that Marty was a "bad seed" due to Marty's criminal history. However, Marty provided evidence that was overlooked, showing that these claimed "reasons" are factually wrong. The Declarations submitted by Marty in opposition to the Personal Representative's Motion for Summary Judgment, at a minimum, create genuine issues of material fact which should have barred entry of summary judgment against him.

The true facts were that Marty and his wife Irma, <u>purchased</u> the house owned by Charles from Charles. Charles did not gift the residence. CP 396-404. In pursuit of her incorrect theory, Ms. Heberlein attempted to enforce a Deed of Trust that Charles had recorded against the property

which she felt was still outstanding against Marty.<sup>1</sup> Marty opposed that effort and obtained an Order on Summary Judgment which dismissed Ms. Heberlein's claim in that regard. CP 396-404.

The alleged "criminal history" on which Ms. Heberlein stated was the other reason for the Will change occurred *before* Marty was adopted by Charles and before Charles made his 1988 Will which named Marty as the sole beneficiary. If Charles did not want Marty to be his beneficiary due to Marty's criminal history, Charles never would have made Marty the sole beneficiary in the 1988 Will.

#### B. Facts regarding the trial court's dismissal of Marty's Claim for Constructive Trust

Charles died on December 5, 2010. Although Ms. Heberlein orally asserted Charles had executed a Will naming her as Personal Representative, she took no action to initiate a probate of Charles's Estate. On July 27, 2011, eight months after Charles's death and with no response from Ms. Heberlein about the later dated Will, Marty filed a Petition to probate the 1988 Will. Marty advised the Court of the existence of the claimed later dated Will.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The existence of the Deed of Trust in and of itself should have signaled to the trial court that there was never a gift of the property. No Deed of Trust would ever be executed for a gift.

The matter was continued by the trial court to September 13, 2011, and Ms. Heberlein was ordered to file an inventory of the Estate and to complete her own petition to admit the later dated Will to probate.

There is no dispute that on September 6, 2011, Ms. Heberlein filed a Petition for Order Granting Nonintervention Powers at Time of Appointment of Personal Representative with the trial court and attached to that was a pleading entitled "Application for Letters of Administration." CP 133-153. Under paragRAP h 5 of that document, Ms. Heberlein asserted that Decedent had "stocks, bonds, cash" in the amount of "0.00." Marty had no reason <u>not</u> to believe that representation. Also attached to that document was an "Inventory" which made the same representation and also listed "bank accounts and money" as "\$0.00." <u>Id</u>. Marty had no reason not to believe that assertion either.

On January 11, 2011, when Marty Thornton filed his TEDRA Petition to challenge the later dated Will, he had no knowledge of any non-probate assets of Charles. Marty acknowledges that his TEDRA Petition was filed one year after his father passed away. In his Petition, he included a claim for constructive trust as his fifth cause of action asserting as follows:

To the extent there have been any distributions of any property of the decedent, whether said property be real or personal or consist of bank accounts or other financial accounts including but not limited to live [sic] insurance or investment proceeds that were owned by the Decedent and subsequently distributed to any person upon the Decedent's death, Mr. Thornton [Marty] asserts that said assets are held under a constructive trust for his benefit.

CP 1-7.

The Court dismissed Marty's claim for constructive trust pursuant to a statute of limitations found in Chapter 11.11 RCW which Marty believes was in error. The trial court awarded attorney's fees to Ms. Heberlein based on the dismissal of the constructive trust claim pursuant to the Chapter 11.11 RCW argument. The Appellate Court in this case declined to address the statute of limitation issue.

#### V. ARGUMENT

# A. The criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(4) is met because the incorrect standard for summary judgment and the incorrect statute of limitations was applied to Marty's constructive trust claim.

The Personal Representative never set forth the summary judgment standard in her briefing to the trial court. In this case, the graveman of the Appellate Court's ruling is that "in order to defeat a summary judgment dismissal of his will contest claims, Martin must show that there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Bob's 2020 will was the product of undue influence or fraud by clear cogent and convincing evidence." Slip Op. at 8 (emphasis added) (citing *Kitsap Bank v. Denley*, 177 Wn. App. 559, 569, 312 P.3d 711 (2013). On Appeal, Marty asserted that is the incorrect standard to be applied to this case because *Kitsap Bank* was decided well after Marty filed the instant will contest. The

Appellate Court's response simply was *Kitsap Bank* did not announce a new summary judgment standard." Slip Op. at 8, fn. 3. With all due respect to the Appellate Court, *Kitsap Bank* did announce a new summary judgment standard and it was not a will contest case.

In *Estate of Lennon v. Lennon*, 108 Wn. App. 167, 29 P.3d 1258 (2001), Division One of the Court of Appeals, <u>reversed</u> a trial court's grant of summary judgment in an action to obtain certain funds a decedent's stepson obtained after he sold decedent's stock. In reversing summary judgment, Division One of the Court of Appeals stated:

Roger [stepson] will bear the heavy <u>burden at trial</u> of proving that a gift occurred by <u>clear</u>, <u>cogent</u>, <u>and</u> <u>convincing evidence</u>. However, this standard is not applicable for purposes of summary judgment. Rather, the nonmoving party "is entitled to all favorable inferences that may be deduced from the varying <u>affidavits</u>." Consequently, we hold that Roger has introduced sufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact for trial on this issue.

*Id.* (citations and footnoted omitted, emphasis added).

The Appellate Court fails to address exactly how the standard from *Kitsap Bank* is in accord with *Estate of Lennon v. Lennon, supra*, which is a case from Division One. The only plausible explanation is that that Division Two and Division One have issued decisions in conflict.

Moreover, reliance on *Kitsap Bank* is misplaced when one fully analyzes that opinion. First, *Kitsap Bank* was not a will contest case. *Kitsap Bank* involves a dispute over a bank account. In creating this new standard, opponents of a motion for summary judgment can no longer establish that there is a genuine issue of material fact. Opponents of a motion for summary judgment must establish their entire case and meet the trial burden. That completely defeats establish case law regarding the standards of summary judgment. The Appellate Court in *Kitsap Bank* heavily relied upon a Division Three case of *In re Trust and Estate of Melter*, 167 Wn. App. 285, 300, 273 P.3d 991 (2012), another case decided after Marty filed the instant will contest. Most notably, *Estate of Melter* was a case that went to trial. Id. at 289, stating:

· . · · ·

John and William Melter and their respective wives testified <u>at trial</u> to dramatically different versions of their sons' dealings with Mary Virginia Melter in the last five years of her life: ultimately the trial court found that the credibility of both sons was suspect and that neither came before the court with clean hands. The following history is therefore drawn virtually entirely from the factual findings of the trial court, in order to rely only on the evidence credited by the court.

(Emphasis added). The Court in *Ktsap Bank* then relied upon the following passage from *Melter* for its determination of in imposing summary judgment burden:

When a challenged factual finding is required to be proved at trial by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, we incorporate that standard of proof in conducting substantial evidence review. A party claiming undue influence must prove it by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *In re*  *Estate of Eubank*, 50 Wn. App. 611, 619, 749 P.2d 691 (1988). When such a finding is appealed, the question to be resolved is not merely whether there is substantial evidence to support it but whether there is substantial evidence in light of the "highly probable" test. *In re Welfare of Sego*, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973); *In re Estate of Riley*, 78 Wn.2d 623, 640, 479 P.2d 1 (1970) (recognizing that "[e]vidence which is 'substantial' to support a preponderance may not be sufficient to support the clear, cogent, and convincing" standard). We still view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, *Woody v. Stapp*, 146 Wn. App. 16, 22, 189 P.3d 807 (2008), and, as in all matters, defer to the trier of fact on issues of credibility.

٠..

It is clear from the language of the *Melter* opinion, though, that this standard is an Appellate Court standard to be applied when reviewing a challenged finding of fact stemming from an actual trial. That is the meaning of the language "we incorporate that standard of proof in conducting substantial evidence review." <u>Id</u>.

The *Kitsap Bank* opinion then waffles by first stating that the same principle applies to summary judgment "and the party bearing the burden to prove the undue influence claim at trial must present sufficient evidence to make it <u>highly probable</u> that the undue influence claim will prevail at trial." <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added). The *Kitsap Bank* court then shifts from the "highly probable" standard to requiring opponents to a motion for summary judgment to provide clear, cogent and convincing evidence, the same standard of evidence at trial but specifically disregarded by the Court in *Estate of Lennon v. Lennon, supra*.

Notably, the *Kitsap Bank* court's entire reliance for this theory is a 1991 child dependency case of *In re the Dependency of C.B.*, 61 Wn. App. 280, 810 P.2d 518 (1991). However, that case notable involved <u>a</u> trial. Id. at 281, where the Court entered particular findings.

· ·

When Marty filed his Will contest in this matter, *Estate of Lennon v. Lennon* standard controlled, not the future standards of other cases which, frankly, are in conflict with *Estate of Lennon v. Lennon* and invoking extra burdens on summary judgment coming from other appellate court opinions stemming from trials. Discretionary review is necessary in order to resolve the conflicts in the divisions and to allow Marty to pursue his case knowing what the particular standards are for summary judgment.

B. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to Mrs. Heberlein on the non-probate accounts of Decedent pursuant to Chapter 11.11 RCW and the Appellate Court compounded the error by declining to review the issue as attorney's fees and costs were awarded against Marty based on the error.

Ms. Heberlein attached a document entitled "inventory" to a Petition she filed with the Court on September 2, 2011. That "Inventory" stated that there were no bank accounts or money in Decedent's name when he died. A subsequent deposition of the Personal Representative revealed that the "Inventory" that was attached to the September 2, 2011 Petition was wholly inaccurate and that bank accounts in Decedent's name:

Q: And did Bob [Decedent] have any separate accounts?

- A: Yes.
- Q: Where?
- A: Bank of America and Columbia.

CP 133-153

The deposition makes clear that she was not truthful in her "Inventory" and a significant amount of bank accounts at issue exist. Ms. Heberlein cannot (a) fail to meet her statutory obligations in filing an original Will of Decedent; (b) file an untruthful court-directed Inventory; and (c) then attempt to hide behind a statute of limitations after leading everyone astray.

In such situations, courts will not apply statutes of limitation to bar claiMs. "The discovery rule operates to toll the date of accrual until the plaintiff knows or, through the exercise of diligence, should have known all the facts necessary to establish a legal claim." *Giraud v. Quincy Farm and Chemical*, 102 Wn. App. 443, 6 P.3d 104 (2000) (holding that the discovery rule tolled a statute of limitations and denying summary judgment to the defendant on that basis).

In this case, the record clearly shows that Marty made every effort to determine what was happening with the probate of his father's Estate. In fact, the Court previously sanctioned the Personal Representative for her dilatory actions by awarding Marty his attorney's fees and costs related to instituting the probate of his father's Estate when it was the Personal Representative's statutory obligation to do so. Moreover, it is now apparent that the Personal Representative misled Marty and, perhaps, others, as to the existence of any bank accounts through the "Inventory" that she attached to the September 2, 2011 Petition.

Chapter 11.11 RCW is commonly known among practitioners as the "Super Will" statute. Chapter 11.11 RCW essentially allows a testator who has previously made pay-on-death designations with her financial institutions to re-designate the beneficiaries of such accounts through the testator's will. If a dispute arises between the pay-on-death beneficiary designated through the financial institution and the "testamentary beneficiary" (i.e., the person designated in the decedent's last will and testament) to receive the account or accounts in general, then RCW 11.11.070 provides a time limit by which to bring the claim.

The statute, by its plain language applies only to a "testamentary beneficiary." This statute would only apply in this case if Marty was named in his father's Will; the Will provided for him to receive funds in bank accounts; and the Will was properly filed in a timely manner as the statutes require. Had that been the case, a "testamentary beneficiary" would have notice of the situation and be able to file the claim. In this case, though, Marty does not become a "testamentary beneficiary" as that term is defined in the statutes unless and until the current Will admitted to probate is invalidated and the previous 1988 Will is admitted to probate. It would be at that time that Marty would have the benefit of the time period found in RCW 11.11.070.

Marty most definitely complied with the statute insofar as he filed a claim related to such accounts within six months of the admission of a Will to probate. The 10-month period from the date of Decedent's death during which the Personal Representative failed to get a Will admitted to probate should not be counted against Marty. Mr. Thornton did everything he could to get the probate of his father's Estate started and by invoking this statute of limitations against him, the trial court erred. The trial court further awarded attorney's fees and costs to Ms. Heberlein based on its erroneous application of the statute of limitations including the fact that when Ms. Heberlein filed her Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Marty's claim for constructive trust, she did not plead the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense. The defense, even if applicable is waived as a result of her failure to plead it. In re Estate of Palmer, 145 Wn. App. 249, 187 P.3d 758 (2008), making summary judgment the trial court granted in error. The Appellate Court's refusal to address this issue compounded that error and still made Marty subject to

an award of attorney's fees and costs based on an erroneous application of the law.

Marty's claim was for constructive trust. That claim is subject to a three year statute of limitations. RCW 4.16.080. See also, Viewcrest Coop. Ass'n v. Deer, 70 Wn.2d 290, 294-95, 422 P.2d 832 (1967). The three year statute of limitations on a constructive trust begins to run when the beneficiary discovers or should have discovered the wrongful act which gave rise to the constructive trust. Goodman v. Goodman, 128 Wn.2d 365, 907 P.2d 290 (1995), supra, at FN. 2. Frankly, Marty did not discover wrongful representation regarding the bank accounts until he deposed Ms. Heberlein. Regardless, the trial Court should have applied the three year statute of limitations found in RCW 4.16.080 to Marty's constructive trust claim rather than the statute of limitations found in Chapter 11.11 RCW. The Court applied the wrong statute of limitations and entered an order of attorney's fees and costs against Marty based on an erroneous interpretation of the law. Discretionary review is warranted to correct this error and clarify what statute of limitations applies in circumstances when a Personal Representative, the only person with access to bank account information, hides that information from potential beneficiaries.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Marty respectfully requests that the Court accept discretionary review of this matter. The applicable summary judgment standard is in conflict in the Divisions and both parties and practitioners should be able to have one standard upon which to rely. Moreover, this Court should reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissal of Marty's constructive trust claim pursuant to a Chapter 11.11 RCW analysis. The trial court applied the wrong statute of limitations and the Appellate Court compounded the error when it declined to review the issue because attorney's fees and costs were awarded against Marty based on this error.

SUBMITTED this 24th day of September, 2015.

LEDGER SQUARE LAW, P.S.