Received Washington State Supreme Court

Ronald R. Carpenter

Supreme Court No. 92295-1

Court of Appeals No. 46337-7 II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Estate of

CHARLES ROBERT THORNTON,

Deceased.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

C. Tyler Shillito, WSBA # 36774 Morgan K. Edrington, WSBA #46388 Attorneys for Respondent

SMITH ALLING, P.S. 1501 Dock Street Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 627-1091



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

Progressing to the specific issue in this case, we are convinced that the inquiry involved in a ruling on a motion for summary judgment or for a directed verdict necessarily implicates the substantive evidentiary standard of proof that would apply at the trial on the merits. If the defendant in a run-of-the-mill civil case moves for summary judgment or for a directed verdict based on the lack of proof of a material fact, the judge must ask himself not whether he thinks the evidence unmistakably favors one side or the other but whether a fair-minded jury could return a verdict for the plaintiff on the evidence presented. The mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the plaintiff's position will be insufficient; there must be evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the plaintiff. The judge's inquiry, therefore, unavoidably asks whether reasonable jurors could find by a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff is entitled to a verdict—"whether there is [evidence] upon which a jury can properly proceed to find a verdict for the party producing it, upon whom the onus of proof is imposed." Improvement Co. v. Munson, 14 Wall. 442, 448, 20 L.Ed. 867 (1872).

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 252.

Shortly after *Anderson*, in 1986, Division II recognized that standard as applied to Washington law. *LaMon v. City of Westport*, 44 Wn. App. 664, 667 n.

1, 723 P.2d 470, 472 (1986). The *LaMon* Court remained consistent with the "usual rules of summary judgment" and noted "The United States Supreme Court recently decided that the summary judgment determination must be guided by the substantive evidentiary standards that apply to the particular case." *LaMon*, 44 Wn. App. at 667 n. 1 (citing *Anderson*, *supra*).

Moreover, other Washington cases support the Appellate Court's interpretation of *Kitsap Bank* as applied to this case. In *Woody v. Stapp, supra*, the plaintiff sued in part under a theory of civil conspiracy. The court of appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal below:

Initially, Mr. Woody argues his burden of proof is lowered because when we review a summary judgment order, we must construe all facts and reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Hubbard*, 146 Wn.2d at 707. However, when reviewing a civil case in which the standard of proof is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, this court "must view the evidence presented through the prism of the substantive evidentiary burden. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 US 242, 254, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 91 L.Ed2d 202 (1986). Thus, we must determine whether, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, a rational trier of fact could find that the nonmoving party supported his or her claim with clear, cogent, and convincing evidence.

Woody, 146 Wn. App. at 22.

Likewise, *In re Dependency of CB*, 61 Wn. App. 280, 810 P.3d 518 (1991), is instructive. In *In re CB*, the Court of appeals considered what burden of production was sufficient to support an ultimate fact in issue. 61 Wn. App. 280, 283, 810 P.2d 518 (1991). The court determined that the burden of

production sufficiently substantial to support an ultimate fact at issue under the preponderance test may not be sufficient production to support the burden of proof under a clear, cogent, and convincing evidence standard.

Id. at 283. The *In re CB** Court compared its ruling to a summary judgment motion in a civil proceeding:

By analogy, the non-moving party in an ordinary civil case meets its burden of production by introducing evidence from which a rational trier of fact could find by a preponderance of the evidence the facts required by the substantive law defining its claim or defense. And by further analogy, a non-moving party in a civic case in which a rational trier of fact could find by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence the facts required by the substantive law defining its claim or defense.

61 Wn. App. at 285.

A trial court does not err when considering whether or clear, cogent, and convincing evidence exists on summary judgment when presented with a civil claim that requires a heightened evidentiary burden at trial. To the contrary, the trial court's review and consideration of the evidence, under the general summary judgment standard with an eye towards the clear, cogent, and convincing standard <u>is</u> the standard for summary judgment on claims such as Martin's.

Anderson, 477 U.S. at 254 ("Thus, in ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the judge must view the evidence presented through the prism of the substantive

⁹ The *Kitsap Bank* court recognized the rule from *In re CB*: "The same principle applies to summary judgment, and the party bearing the burden to prove the undue influence claim at trial must present sufficient evidence to make it highly probable that the undue influence claim will prevail at trial." *Kitsap Bank*, 177 Wn. App. at 569 (citing *In re Estate of Jones*, 170 Wn. App. 594, 603-04, 287 P.3d 610 (2012)).

evidentiary burden."). As demonstrated above, a dearth of Washington case law, decided well before *Kitsap*, applies the same standard that Martin decries. The *Anderson* standard as applied by the Court of Appeals below was proper as the standard has been the law both federally and in this State for nearly thirty years. The Court of Appeals below did not err but correctly applied the applicable standard for summary judgment. Martin's contention that *Kitsap Bank* created a whole new standard is baseless, and this Court should deny review accordingly.

b. <u>Lennon Does Not Illustrate a Divide Between the Divisions</u>

Martin also challenges the Court of Appeals' ruling as failing to

reconcile Kitsap Bank with the Estate of Lennon v. Lennon. ¹⁰ Martin argues

Kitsap Bank, decided by Division II, and Lennon, decided by Division I, illustrate
a split in the divisions. Martin misapplies Lennon and its dicta. ¹¹

Notably, the *Lennon* Court did not affirm nor deny a trial court's motion for summary judgment on will contest claims, or any other claim that required a clear, cogent and convincing standard at trial. 108 Wn. App. 167, 173, 29 P.3d 1258 (2001). Instead, *Lennon* involved the application of Washington's Deadman Statute. *Id.* at 173. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the estate to recover funds and struck portions of the nonmoving party's testimony on the basis of the Deadman Statute. *Id.* The court of appeals reversed holding, on the facts presented, the Deadman Statute had been waived,

¹⁰ 108 Wn. App. 167, 173, 29 P.3d 1258 (2001).

¹¹ Again, Martin fails to reconcile *Sedwick v. Gwinn. supra*, which also applied *Anderson, supra* on summary judgment.

and the evidence that was stricken would have presented enough evidence to overcome summary judgment. *Id.* at 181-82.

The case at bar is factually distinguishable from *Lennon*. *Lennon* considered the application of the Deadman Statute as a matter of procedure and not whether the decedent had actually gifted property as a matter of substance. When read in context, the *Lennon* Court's holding applied to the evidence that went "to the heart of Roger's claim that Elise made an inter vivos gift of the stock certificates" which thereby created the genuine issue of material fact for trial. *Id.* The *Lennon* Court was not asked to consider whether the decedent bestowed the gifts, but simply merely whether the nonmoving party could introduce evidence otherwise barred by the Deadman Statute. By contrast, in this case, the central question was whether Martin could demonstrate, substantively, the existence of undue influence by Heberlein. When read in context, *Lennon* does not create a divide between the divisions. The summary judgment standard applied by the Court of Appeals in this case was proper, and review should be denied.

B. Martin Thornton's Claim for Constructive Trust Was
Properly Dismissed When He Conceded That the Success of
the Constructive Trust Claim Was Dependent on the Success
of His Undue Influence Claim.

¹² The Court of Appeals answered this question: "Mr. Thornton failed to show a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Bob's 2010 will was the product of undue influence or fraud by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence." Slip Op. at 8.

¹³ To the extent *Lennon* does stand for the rule that Martin suggests, the decision as demonstrated above, does not comport with Washington and Federal case law dating from 1986.

The Court of Appeals described Martin's constructive trust claim as vague, and accepted his concession that "his constructive trust cause of action is dependent on the success of his will contest claims." Slip Op. 18. Under Martin's own theory, if the probated will is not invalidated, he has no basis to claim constructive trust of either the probate or non-probate assets. As explained by Martin in briefing, "his [constructive trust] claim was that the Court impose a constructive trust over any such assets if it is determined that the 2010 will is invalid." Reply Br. at 17. Accordingly, there is no basis to accept review.

C. Martin Thornton's Attempt to Revive His Constructive Trust Claim as to the Non-Probate Assets Relies on Several Faulty Premises.

Martin's argument in the Petition relating to the non-probate assets relies on three conflated and faulty premises, and sets forth no basis for which this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4.

First, Martin complains that Heberlein failed to list non-probate assets on the Inventory she filed as personal representative, and thus, the discovery rule tolled the statute of limitations. This is a red herring and a misapplication of the requirements imposed upon a personal representative to create an inventory. The non-probate assets Martin complains of listed Heberlein as the beneficiary. The inventory in this case was filed pursuant to Heberlein's obligations as personal representative under Bob's 2010 will. She was appointed pursuant to RCW 11.44.015. That statute does not require an inventory of non-probate assets in this case. Non-probate assets of joint accounts or accounts containing

beneficiary designations do not pass under wills. See e.g. RCW 11.02.005(10) ("Nonprobate asset" means those rights and interests of a person having beneficial ownership of an asset that pass on the person's death under a written instrument or arrangement other than the person's will). As such, these assets did not need to be included in the probate inventory, nor in the updated inventory, because they were not assets of the estate. CP 141-42. Martin's argument relating to tolling of the statute of limitations, or that the personal representative "hiding assets" fails in light of the obligations imposed upon Heberlein by statute.

The second faulty premise, is that the 1988 will was a superwill.

Martin's argument relating to the constructive trust claim is predicated upon the position that the 1988 will was a superwill. His argument boils down to the following position: he would be a testamentary beneficiary under the 1988 will; Heberlein took the assets as the named beneficiary on the non-probate assets; as such, Heberlein held the non-probate assets in constructive trust. Because the 1988 will was not a superwill, the constructive trust claim fails on its face.

Martin is incorrect when he argues that he would not have "the benefit of the time period found in RCW 11.11.070" unless and until the current will admitted to probate was invalidated. Even if the current will was admitted to

¹⁴ RCW 11.11.070(3) prevents the beneficiary designated in the will from making a claim against a beneficiary designated in the nonprobate asset six months after the will is admitted to probate or one year after the decedent's date of death. *See Kitsap Bank*, 177 Wn. App. at 567, n.3.

probate, the 1988 will was not a superwill and RCW 11.11.070 would not have applied. Nonprobate assets are not governed by wills unless the will is actually a superwill. To constitute a superwill, the language of the will must meet certain criteria in RCW 11.11.020. Martin's argument regarding the nonprobate assets fails because the 1988 will does not contain the necessary superwill language contained in RCW 11.11.020. It is not a superwill by definition:

- (1) Subject to community property rights, upon the death of an owner the owner's interest in any nonprobate asset specifically referred to in the owner's will belongs to the testamentary beneficiary named to receive the nonprobate asset, notwithstanding the rights of any beneficiary designated before the date of the will.
- (2) A general residuary gift in an owner's will, or a will making general disposition of all of the owner's property, does not entitle the devisees or legatees to receive nonprobate assets of the owner.
- (3) A disposition in a will of the owner's interest in "all nonprobate assets" or of all of a category of nonprobate asset under RCW 11.11.010(7), such as "all of my payable on death bank accounts" or similar language, is deemed to be a disposition of all the nonprobate assets the beneficiaries of which are designated before the date of the will.
- (4) If the owner designates a beneficiary for a nonprobate asset after the date of the will, the specific provisions in the will that attempt to control the disposition of that asset do not govern the disposition of that nonprobate asset, even if the subsequent beneficiary designation is later revoked. If the owner revokes the later beneficiary designation, and there is no other provision controlling the disposition of the asset, the asset shall be treated as any other general asset of the owner's estate, subject to disposition under the other applicable provisions of the will. A beneficiary designation with respect to an asset that renews without the signature of the owner is deemed to have been made on the date on which the account was first opened.

RCW 11.11.020. Martin's claims for the nonprobate assets inherently rely on the superwill statute.

Accordingly, the trial court was well within its broad authority under RCW 11.96A.020, and the plenary powers granted therefrom, to dismiss Martin's claim for nonprobate assets. Martin's claim of status as a testamentary beneficiary binds him to the statutory language of RCW 11.11.020 and the statute of limitations contained in RCW 11.11.070. Pleading as a constructive trust does not change that Martin is claiming to be a testamentary beneficiary under the superwill statute.

Third, even if Martin was correct that the 1988 will could constitute a superwill, Heberlein would still take the non-probate assets because she was named as a beneficiary after the 1988 will was executed. RCW 11.11.020(4) ("If the owner designates a beneficiary for a nonprobate asset after the date of the will, the specific provisions in the will that attempt to control the disposition of that asset do not govern the disposition of that nonprobate asset, even if the subsequent beneficiary designation is later revoked"). Heberlein was named as a beneficiary as early as 2003, which is still after the purported superwill. This Court should decline review of any aspect of the constructive trust claim.

D. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the award of attorney's fees.

¹⁵ Even if Martin is correct on the statute of limitations argument, the claim can be dismissed now to avoid remanding on a statute of a limitations issue when the claim ultimately fails on the merits.

Again, Martin fails to articulate a basis under RAP 13.4 to accept review as to any issue relating to attorneys' fees. Martin asks this Court to accept review of the trial court decision to award attorneys' fees against Martin. The Court of Appeals declined to award fees.

The trial court properly awarded attorney's fees. RCW Chapter 11 grants Washington's courts broad discretion to award costs and reasonable attorneys' fees. RCW 11.96A.150; *In re Guardianship of Matthews*, 156 Wn. App. 201, 213, 232 P.3d 1140 (2010).

Here, the trial court properly granted summary judgment and was within its discretion to award attorneys' fees. The Court of Appeals properly determined that there was no abuse of discretion. Martin's Petition for Review as to this issue should likewise be denied, and this Court should award Heberlein fees on appeal under RAP 18.1(j).

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Respondent Heberlein respectfully requests this Court to deny review of the Petition and award her fees incurred in this Court under RAP 18.1(j).